I. IDENTITY OF THE PETIDONE.R. 

The Petitioner is Lisa Buhr, the Plaintiff in the Spokane Cowrty 

Superior co~ and the Appellant in Division III. 

ll. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION. 

The decision for which review is sought is Buhr v. Stewart Title 

ofSpoA::ane, LLC~ 30164-8-ID, 2013 WL 3943283 (Aug. 1, 2013). 

m. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW. 

1. Does the "accommodation" <Jf a disabled employee,. as 

required by Washington's Law Agai118t Discrimination, necessarily 

require an employer to make an affirmative adjustment or modification 

for the disabled employee--one that a non-disabled employee does not 

receiv~o that the disabled employee receives the same workplace 

opportunities as the nondisabled employee? 

2. Is reducing a disabled employee's fulJ-time position to 

less than full time because of their disability considered reasonable 

accommodation as a matter of law, or is it adverse employment action? 

3. Is accommodation a necessary precursor to the 

assessment of whether disparate treatment exists as to a disabled 

employee? 

l 
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4. . Did a trial court err in granting summary judgment to an 

employer who testified that a disabled employee would be treated the 

same as every other employee? 

5. Did a trial court err in excluding the concept of 

accommodation from trial on the disabled empJoyee's claims for 

disparate treatment and "Wrongful termination? 

IV. STt\TEMENTOFTBE CA§E. 

This is a petition for review of Division ill's decision upholding 

a trial court's entry of summary judgment in favor of an employer, and 

dismissing a disabled employee's cJaim of failure to accommodate a 

disability. This petition also requests review of Division m·s ruling 

upholding a jury verdict in favor of the employer on the employee~s 

disparate treatment/wrongful termination claims. All rulings arise from 

the same issues of law: what is the definition of "accommodation., in 

disability discrimination? Moreover, is a disabled employee entitled to 

show that they could have performed their job with accommodation 

before their disparate treatment c]aim!; can be properly assessed? 

Division lfi holds that an employer who treats a disabled 

employee the same as a non-disabled employee is engaged in 

accommodation as a matter of law. It holds that reducing a disabled 

2 

09/0~/201~ 15:42 Nn.: R~~5 P.OOB/0~0 



Sep 03 2013 3:45Pf1 11ary Schultz Law PS 5097037 414 page 9 

employee's full-time position to less than full time because of a 

disability is accommodation 88 a matter of law. And it holds that 

accommodation plays no role in claims of disparate treatment. 

These results reached by Division ill conflict with the very 

purpose of the duty of accommodation. Riehl v. Foodmah!r, Inc. 152 

Wn.2d 138, 145-46, 94 P.3d. 930 (2004). The resu1ts conflict with the 

definition of accommodation as establis1ted by United States Supreme 

Court. U.S. Airways v. Barnett, 535 U.S. 39It 122 S.Ct. 1516 (2002). 

The results fail to distinguish. between accommodation, which is 

designed to allow for equal opportunity, from the type of preferential 

treatment which allows an advantage to certain employees. See Parents 

Involved in Cnmty. Sch. v. Seattle Sch. Diat., No. 1, 149 Wn.2d 660, 

685-86, 72 P.3d 151 (2003). And the resuJtg fail to consider that 

disabled employees are not similarly situated to non-disabled 

employees for the purpose of disparate treatment comparisons. See 

Johnson v. Dep't of Health Servs., 80 Wn.App. 212, 907 P.2d 1223 

(1996). Review should be granted 

The Evidence. 

Lisa Bubr ("Lisa") has a permanent disability. Buhr v. Stewart 

(hereqfter "Decision.,), 2013 WL 3943283 at p.2. Longstanding 

3 
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medical issues caused Lisa the loss of an eye. Her job as a customer 

service representative at the Respondent Title Company involved 

working at a. computer for an extended period of time, and resulted in 

severe migraine headaches. CP 13, 40. Lisa's employer, Respondent 

Stewart Title, acknowledged that Lisa is disabled by her condition. CP 

40, 307. At summary judgment, Lisa evidenced that she had agreed to 

come to work for Stewart only in a full-time positi<>n, i.e., 40 hOllls a 

week of pay, which required that she receive the benefit of flexible 

hours. CP 1813, paras. 10--14. Stewart's president, Anthony Carollo 

("'Anthony/') acknowledged that when he hired Lisa, he understood 

that Lisa could not achieve her 40 hours a week of full-time 

emp]oyment if relegated solely to office hours. Pl. Ex. 55, p. 39: 17-

12; p. 41: 6-13. 

Lisa petfonned very well for her employer using flexible hours. 

CP 1813, para. 15. She achieved her full-time forty-hour wage. ld, 

and CP 1818, parar. 26-27. A year after her hire, however, Stewart 

required Lisa to apply for FMLA leave for her absences. Lisa 

understood that such a fonnaJ leave status would be used up by her 

absences; and, once exhausted, such a formal leave status would result 

in her termination. CP 1819, para. 35; CP 1820, para. 43. That same 

4 
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fall, in September 2007, Stewart also cut off Lisa~s ability to achieve 

her 40 hours of full-time work. Lisa would no longer be allowed to do 

paid work outside of normal office hours. CP 1820, paras. 38-41. Her 

pay was now materially .redn.OOd. CP 1820: 41. In contrast to Lisa's 

treattnent, non-disabled employees were given pennission to work 

outside office hours if they had need. CP 1820 at para. 43. 

Anthony testified that Lisa's being allowed to use the same sick 

and vacation leave that non-disabled employees used was to be the 

extent of her necessary accommodation for her health condition. Pl. 

Ex. 55, p. 40: 14-15. In his deposition, Anthony testified: "We didn't 

make an effort to accommodate her needs." Pl. Ex. 55, p. 40: 5-6. 

From this evidence. Division m dismissed Lisa's failure-to-

accommodate claim. CP 1966: 1-6.1 

Jury trial commenced on Lisa's remaining claim of disparate 

treatment/wrongful discharge. The trial court excluded any reference 

to the concept of accommodation of Lisa's disability. RP 5.1-54. 

Anthony again acknowledged his understanding that Lisa would be 

Division HI cites Usa's deposition testimony at p. 6 of its declsro~ which 
confirms that no 8lT8Jlgetnents were made for Lisa to be treated differently than others in 
this regard. n also cites Lisa's restimony regarding the sihlation prior tu September 
2007, where it is clear that wbe.tt Lisa was able to use flexible dme, she was able to work 
gainfully. 

5 
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regularly absent from work due to her migraines. RP 212: 15-21; RP 

227: 2-20. He acknowledged that once Lisa used up her leave time, it 

was exhausted. RP 1372: 14-17. And he acknowledged that once 

Lisa's sick and vacation time were exhausted, if Lisa didn't come in to 

work:, she would not get paid, "as does any employee." RP 261: 10-25; 

264: 16-20. Anthony testified: ccThat's the way it is with any 

employee." RP 265: 18. This was the policy for everyone else, and it 

WBS the policy for Lisa. RP 1371: 18 -RP 1373: 1. 

By September 2007, Anthony also told Lisa that if she was not 

in the office between 8:00 a.m. - 5:00 p.m., she could net make up her 

forty-hour work week outside regular office hours. RP 1269.: .3-8,· RP 

1270: 5-19. Time of less than 40 hours a week would be deducted 

from her salary. RP 210: 15-17. Lisa asked Anthony for permission to 

work outside of 8-to-5 to achieve her forty-hour week, but was denied. 

RP 1270: 1-19. Lisa told Anthony that she could· not perform her job 

properly, i.e., complete her assigned projects, without the ability to 

work flexibly. RP 1269. But Anthony required that unfinished work 

be delegated to others. RP 270; 274. He testifi~ "We don't guarantee 

40 hours a week ... she ran out of sick time; she ran out of vacation 

time. She doesn't work, she doesn't get paid" RP 271: 22-24. 

6 
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Anthony testified: 1'We treated her the same as everybody else. r 

wouldn,t allow any employees at that point, you know, at that 

discussion, to work hours outside of 8 to 5, and I didn't for her either 

... we treated everybody the same.!' RP 2012: 17-23. There was no 

discussion about, e.g., flexible hours. RP 2023: 25- RP 2024: 1-2. 

Lisa's discharge occurred therea:frer. She went into the Stewart 

office to work on a Saturday to fry and complete her projects and 

achieve as close to her 40 hours of work as possible for that week. RP 

1282: 1-21. She did not have the authorization to do so. She also 

misreported her time. RP 1282: 25- RP 1183: 3. Anthony fired her. 

RP 1287. Lisa was replaced by a non-disabled person. RP 725: 22 -

RP 726:1. 

The trial court instructed the jury thai; in order to prove 

disparate treatment, Lisa was required to show that she was treated 

"less favorably in the tertru1 and conditions of employment when 

compared to other similarly sHuated non-disabled employees." CP 

2272, attached at Appendix A 2. Stewart comtselthus argued '" ... [s]he 

was treated the same as (the other customer service representatives, Ms. 

Hurd and Ms. Dove). No difference. Treated the same. Exactly what 

7 
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she wanted. Never asked for anything different. You heard her testify; 

you heard the others testify." RP 2241: 21-25. 

The jury entered a defense verdict on the instruction given. CP 

2298-2300. 

Djvision ID upholds this verdict. 

V. ARGUMENT FOR REVIEW. 

Lisa Buhr asks this Supreme Court to accept review, define 

"accommodation', as a necessary modification or adjustment of work 

conditions allowed a disabled employee to allow the disabled ernpJoyee 

the same workplace opportunities eJljoyed by the non-disabled 

employees, and to confirm that accommodation plays an integral role in 

any disability disparate treatment analysis.2 

l. This state's law requires that an employer reasonably 
ag:ommodate a digbUily. 

W asrungton,s Law Against Discrimination (WLAD) prohibits 

an employer from discriminating against a disabled employee in the 

terms or conditions of employment. RCW 49.60.180(2),(3); RCW 

1 Lisa's wrongful termination cJaUn is included within the disparate treatment 
analysis for reasons described herein. 

8 
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49.60.030(l)(a).3 Washington's law requires that an employer provide 

a disabled employee "reasonable accommodation." Riehl v. 

Foodmalc:er, Inc. 152 Wn.2d at 14546. An employer's failure to 

reasonably accommodate a known disability constitutes disability 

discrimination. Id 

1his court has defined the duty to accommodate as "steps 

reasonably necessary to enable the employee to perform his or her job." 

Riehl, 152 Wn.2d at 146. Missing from the defutition is whether or not 

t'steps reasonably necessary" means that an employer is under an 

affirmative obligation to make positive adjusbnents or modifications to 

the work environment of the disabled employee. 

2. "Accommodation" should be defined as 8Jl adiuatment 
accorded a disabJed employee which a noa-disabled 
employee doe! not reeetve, to alow the dlsablecj. employee 
flle same wot"kolaee opportunities u the non-disabled 
employee. 

The first issue presented is the definition of accommodation. 

Division Ill holds that Stewart's alJowing Lisa Bubr to take time off 

~ llte prohibition against disability diseriminatlon stems from state and federal 
corurtituti<mal requirements fur equal protection. Fell v. Spohlne Transit .Auth., 128 
Wn.2d 618, 634. 9ll P.2d 1319, 1327 (1996); U.S. Coost. amend. XIV, § 1 (Equal 
Prorection Clause). and Wash. Canst. Art. l, § 12 (privileges and immunities, and equal 
protection). 

9 
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when needed. i.e., to use the same sick and vacation leave and flex time 

as allowed non-disabled employees, is accommodation. Decision at pp. 

5, 11. But federal law rejects this reasoning. "Accommodation" is an 

adjustment or modification to the work environment given an employee 

with disabilities. U.S . .Airway.f, 535 U.S. at 397. By definition, any 

special accommodation requires an employer to treat an employee with 

a disability differently, i.e., "preferentially.n /d. Division II also 

describes reasonable accommodation as "positive steps'' to 

accommodate the employee's disability. Harrell v. Washington State 

ex rei. Dep't of Soc. Health Servs., 170 Wn.App. 386, 398. 285 P.3d 

159, 166 (Div. II, 2012), review granted, 176 Wn.2d 1011, 297 P3d 

706 (2013), citing Goodman v. The Boeing Co., 127 Wn.2d 401, 408, 

899 P.2d 1265 (1995). 

Division ill's holding that an employer's allowing a disabled 

employee to use the same policies of limited sick and vacation leave as 

a non-disabled employee is a "special allowance" for· the disabled 

employee thus conflicts with the very definition of accommodation 

under federal, state Supreme Court, and Division IT's holdings, and 

should be reviewed. Decision, p. 14. 

10 
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Stewart evidenced only a neutral policy. But equal treatment is 

not accommodatio~ because a neutral rule is not an affirmative 

adjustment or modification of work conditions for the disabled 

employee. U.S. Airways, supra. It is not positive action taken to allow 

the disabled employee to achieve equality. Han-ell, citing Goodman v. 

Boeing Co., 127 Wn.2d at 408. It Is not a step taken that is reasonably 

necessary to enable the disabled employee to perfonn his or her job. 

Riehl~ 152 Wn.2d at 146. ''Neutral break from work'' rules 

automatically prevent the accommodation of an individual who needs 

additional breaks from work 535 U.S. at 398. Accommodation 

preferences in treatment for the disabled are thus necessary to achieve 

the Disability Act's basic equal oppornmity goal. See U.S. Airways, · 

535 U.S. at 397. Such preferences are required only to allow the 

disabled employee to have the same workplace opportunities as are 

enjoyed by those emptoyees without disabilities U.S . ..Airways, Inc., 535 

U.S. at 397. Such preferences do not advantage a group to the 

detriment of others outside that group; instead, the preference produces 

comparative opportunity. Parents Involved in Clhty. Sch. v. Seattle 

l1 
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Sch. Dist., No. 1. 149 Wn.2d at 685-86, and see Dumont v. City of 

Seattle, 148 Wn;App. 850, 863, 200 P.3d 764, 769 (2009).4 

Division m further acknowledges that Stewart's policy resulted 

in Lisa not being able to achieve her full time work week. CP 1820, 

paras. 38-41. But Division lll holds that Lisa was '"allowed" to worlc a 

reduced work week. Decision at 1. Reducing an employee's workloa.d 

and pay is not accommodation, however; it is an adverse employment 

action that qualifies as discrimination. Kirby v. City of Tacom~ 124 

Wn.App. 454, 465, 98 P.3d 827, 833 (Div. II, 2004)~ citing Ray v. 

Henderson) 217 F.3d 1234, 1243-44 (9th Cir. 2000). It is also 

disparate treatment-differences in work hours, wages, and work 

schedules are areas in which disparities are precluded. See CP 2272, 

Court 'a instruction to the jwy Sa, Appendix A 2. 

Here, allowing Lisa flexible time for health reasons did not give 

her preferential treatment; it only allowed her to achieve the same 

forty-hour work week as non-disabled employees already enjoyed. 

Any accommodation preferences in her treabnent would only achieve 

~ This same concept is indirectly applied tbrongh disability access rights. 
"Equality'' in physical II(:Cess may not be able to be achieved, but accommodation is 
required to allow for "comparable"' access. Fell v. Spokane D-anslt Auth., 121 Wn.2d at 
635-36. 

12. 
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the Disability Act's basic equal opportunity goaL 535 U.S. at 397. 

Division Ill's holding that adverse employment a<..1ion is 

accommodation conflicts with other appellate court law, and should be 

reviewed. 

This court should accept review, and hold that accommodation 

is necessarily a positive step of some kind. It is an adjustment that is to 

be given to a disabled employe&-<>ne which non-disabled employees 

do not have-that is designed to provide equal workplace opportunity. 

It should hold that Lisa therefore created a genuine issue of material 

fact at summary judgment as to the accommodation of her disability. 

Lisa showed ~ as of September 2007, her employer's neutra1 policy 

of refusing employees the ability to work outside office hours uniquely 

deprived her of the ability to complete her projects and achieve a full

time work week becall8e of her disability. Refusing her even 

"permission based" outside hours to achieve her forty hours because of 

her health condition, when other non-disabled employees received that 

permission for non-health reasons, was also sufficient evidence of 

failure to accommodate to entitle her to trial. 

13 
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This court should accept review, and so hold. 5 

3. DJsoarate treatment of a disabled emoloyee cannot be 
properly Judged until the disabled. employee is silllilarly 
situated; in the asaessment of disparate treatment. 
eomoarlsona are to be made only betweep "eauals." 

Division ill holds that accommodation plays no role in the 

assessment of disparate treatment. Division IIrs holding strictly 

applies the plain language of statute and precedent regan:ling disparate 

treatment. Unlawful disparate treatment exists where one 

"discriminate(s) against any person in compensation, or in other tenns 

or conditions of employment because of . . .. the presence of any 

.•• physical disability .. " RCW § 49.60.180. Disparate treatment exists 

when the employer simply treats some people less favorably than 

others in the tenns and conditions of employment because of their class 

characteristics. Shannon v. Pay W Save Corp., 104 Wn.2d 722, 726, 

709 P.2d 799 (1985); Johnson v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 80 Wn. 

Division m also holds that the accommodation of religious practices and 
acro.nunodatioo of disabilities are sinu1ar. Decision, p. 12. citing.Ammr/a Bel o[Educ. v. 
Philbrook, 419 U.S. 60,70-71, 107 S.U. 367, 93 L.Ed.2d 305 (1986), and Tepper v. 
Pottw, 505 F.3d 5017 514 (6fh Cir. 20(17). In the context of a Title VII religiO'US 
discrimination QUe, an employer need not adapt to an employee'8 special worship 
schedule as a "reasonable accommodation" where doing so would conflict with the 
seniority rights of other employees. US. Airwap, Inc. Y. Barnett, 53S U.S. 391 at 403. 
But white both categories a11ow protected status, religious practices are voluntary 
choices, not physical Jimitatk>ns on capacity. 

14 
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App. at 226-27. And as a result. if "accornrnodationJt is an affirmative 

act. or a positive step or adjustment because of a disability, then 

accommodation is disparate treatment. It would treat non-disabled 

employees less favorably than the disabled accommodated employee. 

But accommodation is a duty of the employert not disparate treatment. 

Washington's Patterned Instruction for disparate treatment 

discrimination with disabilities solves the problem. WPIC 330.32, at 

AJ1p6ndix A 1. lherein, "accommodation'' is listed as a precursor 

element to the jury's assessment of the disparities between the now 

"similarly situated" employees. Division m notes that Lisa's failure-

to-accommodate claim wa'l dismissed. But the accommodation step in 

the disparate treatment instruction does not resurrect the dismissed 

claim of failure to accommodate. Liability does not arise for "failure to 

accommodaten through the disparate treatment instruction. Instead, the 

accommodation is considered only in the deftnition of what employees 

are "similarly situated" for the purpose of assessing disparate treatment. 

Absent the affumative step of accommodatioo, a disabled employee is 

not similarly situated to a non-disabled employee, and cannot be 

similarly judged. See Johnson, supra. 

15 
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As an example, if a disabled employee is disciplined for being 

late to work just the same as everyone else, but the disabled employee 

cannot physically get in the door, then that is not just a failure of 

accommodation, but it is also the employer treating the disabled 

employee less favorably in the terms and conditions of employment 

than a non-disabled employee. ''Similarly situated" thus has two 

meanings in a disability claim. A disabled employee may hold a 

similarly situated position at work, but the disabled customer service 

employee is still not similarly situated to the non-disabled employee for 

the comparison of discipline. 'The disabled employee cannot get in the 

door. The comparison cannot :fuirly be made. This is the reason behind 

the accommodation step in disparate tteatment. 

Here, Stewart fired Lisa in part for going in to work after hours 

to complete projects and make up her 40 hours without pennission.. 

But Lisa was not ro be allowed permission on the basis of her health 

issues to work a:fuo:r- hours to achieve her 40 hours or complete her 

projects. Other non-disabled customer service representatives were 

allowed tbat after-hours permission for non-disability reasons. See, 

e.g., CP 1820 at para. 43. This is disparate treatment, and it is the 

disparity that is the basis of Lisa's wrongful termination claim. But 

16 
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Lisa cannot point out this disparity~ because the origin of the disparities 

lies within the concept ofthe excluded "accommodation." Lisa was not 

allowed to discuss or argue accommodation, and the jury was not 

instructed to consider it. She is therefore similarly situated in her role 

as a customer service representativ~ and, per Division Ill, able to be 

similarly judged, but she is in fact not similarly situated to the o1hers 

witht:Jut accommodation. The disparity in both her work conditions and 

in her termination exist in the differing accommodation. Stewart is 

according disabled and non-disabled employees differing 

accommodation. Lisa cannot make the argument, 

In sum, Lisa was the employee who could not get in the door, 

but was disciplined for being late. Her bolll'S and wages were 

materially reduced by Stewart's neutral policy, and she violated the 

permission rule because she was attempting to complete projects and 

achieve a needed paycheck which only she could not achieve, given 

Stewart's policy. Were Lisa to be allowed to show that she could 

complete her projects and achieve her 40 hours of work with 

accommodation, then she would have been a customer service 

representative sim.ilarJy situated. Now, her failure to complete her 

projects that week, md her stealing into work without permission to 
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complete her job, could properly be judged as would any other 

customer service representative be judged. 

Accommodation thus not only allows a disabled employee to 

obtain the same workplace opportunities that those without disabilities 

enjoy~ US. Airways, supra at 397, but the accommodation step also 

allows for disparate treatment comparisons in work conditions and in 

the discipline to be made between now si.milarJy situated employees. 

Division m holds the removal of this accommodation step to be 

proper, reasoning that the 1rial court lessened Lisa•s "burden of proof." 

DecisWn at 18. To the contrary, removal of the accommodation step 

voided her claims. The instruction rendered equal treatment of Lisa a 

defense to disparate treatment, when her disability placed her in a 

different work situation altogether. 'This result prevents disparate 

treatment causes of action for the disabled. 

4. Review should be aeeepted. 

Lisa Buhr asks that this Court accept review, con:finn that 

accommodation is a necessary affirmative ~ and confirm that 

accommodation is a precursor act necessary to create similarly situated 

employees for a disparate treatment comparison. 
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Division m~s enforced equality of 1rea1ment. for the disabled 

presents a significant question of la.w under both the Constitution of the 

State of Washington and the federal Constitution, because the right of

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