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

III. ARGUMENT 

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision on Accommodation Is 
Consistent With Applicable Law. 

Buhr contends that the holdings of the Court of Appeals conflict 

with holdings of other Divisions and the holdings of federal courts, 

including the United States Supreme Court. Although Buhr strenuously 

attempts to create the appearance of conflict by skewing the facts, the 

holdings of Division III in the instant case, and the holdings of other cases 

she cites, the Decision in the present case is consistent with settled law and 

does not conflict with any of the cases Buhr cites. 

9 Although Buhr identifies Appeal No. 30164-8-III as the Decision for review, she has 
identified this appeal in error. Buhr actually seeks review of Appeal No. 30355-1-III. 
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1. Stewart Spokane Satisfied its Duty to Accommodate 
Bohr. 

After well reasoned analysis, the Court of Appeals held that by 

liberally permitting Buhr's unpredictable absences, Stewart Spokane 

accommodated Buhr's disability in such a manner that she was able to 

perform satisfactorily and continue her employment at Stewart Spokane. 

(Decision, pp. 9-14.) 

Buhr argues that the Court of Appeals erred in its definition of the 

duty to accommodate. Buhr claims that the Court of Appeals' decision 

"conflicts with the very definition of accommodation" because the Court 

did not explain or require that "an employer is under an affirmative 

obligation to make positive adjustments or modifications to the work 

environment of the disabled employee." (Petition for Review ("Petition"), 

at p. 9.) Buhr asserts that Stewart Spokane did not accommodate her by 

providing her leave pursuant to its "neutral" leave policy because the 

policy provided for equal, not preferential, treatment. (!d. at 11.) In 

support of these arguments, Buhr heavily relies on US Airways, Inc. v. 

Barnett, 535 U.S. 391 (2002), which states that, "[b]y definition any 

special 'accommodation' requires the employer to treat an employee with 

a disability differently, i.e., preferentially." !d. at 397. Buhr's arguments 

in this regard fail for the following reasons. 
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First, the Court of Appeals' Decision does not conflict with the 

concept of reasonable accommodation as preferential treatment or 

"positive steps." The Court of Appeals determined therein that Buhr was 

treated preferentially, concluding that "[ u ]ndisputed facts demonstrated by 

Stewart Spokane support the conclusion that Stewart Spokane made 

special allowances for Ms. Buhr .... " (Decision, p. 14.) The Court noted 

that Stewart Spokane accommodated Buhr's need for an "unusual" and 

"extraordinary" number of"unpredictable" absences. (!d. at 3, 1 0-11.) 

Second, Buhr's argument is logically flawed insofar as it assumes 

the application of Stewart's leave policy results in equal treatment. The 

fact that a leave policy provides medical leave for all employees requiring 

it does not mean that an employer treats every employee's request for 

leave the same regardless of the employee's circumstances. Buhr was 

liberally granted an extraordinary number of absences (far exceeding the 

normal amount of sick days) to accommodate her disability. For the 

period of August 16, 2006 through September 30, 2007 there were 272 

work days, of which Buhr took 43 sick days off, without Stewart Title of 

Spokane raising an issue as to the same. (CP 638-685.) This means Buhr 

was absent approximately 16% of the work days during her employment 

without her absences ever being questioned. (CP 1871-1872.) There is no 
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evidence in the record that Stewart Spokane permitted non-disabled 

employees the flexible leave given to Buhr. 

Third, Buhr's reliance on Barnett, 535 U.S. at 397, is misplaced. 

Buhr cites Barnett to support her contention that the application of a 

neutral policy can never result in accommodation of a disabled employee. 

Barnett does not stand for this proposition. Indeed, Buhr has not cited any 

case supporting this proposition. The Barnett court did not even consider 

whether the application of a neutral policy could constitute reasonable 

accommodation. Barnett addressed another question altogether-whether 

an accommodation that would provide a 'preference' in violation of a 

neutral work rule (specifically, a seniority system) would render a 

requested accommodation unreasonable. !d. at 397-98. In the present 

case, Stewart Spokane does not contend that Buhr's requests for an 

unusual number of absences were unreasonable, and Buhr did not request 

an accommodation that would have violated a neutral work rule. 

Accordingly, Barnett is inapposite. 

Moreover, as the Court of Appeals noted, providing a reduced or 

adjusted work schedule is recognized as one type of reasonable 

accommodation. (Decision, p. 11, citing WAC 162-22-065(2)( a); 42 

U.S.C. § 12111(9)(B); and 29 C.F.R. 1630.2(o)(2)(ii)). Buhr has failed to 
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establish that the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's 

decision, and the Petition for Review should be denied. 

2. Reasonable Accommodation Did Not Require Allowing 
Buhr To Work Outside of Normal Business Hours. 

Buhr also contends that the Court of Appeals erred by holding that 

allowing Buhr to reduce her work hours to take unpaid sick days (which 

by itself would have reduced her pay) constituted accommodation. Buhr 

contends this reduction of her hours should be viewed as an adverse 

action, rather than accommodation. (Petition, p. 12.) These arguments 

relate to Buhr's contention before the Court of Appeals that Stewart 

Spokane should have accommodated Buhr by allowing her to work 

outside of normal business hours in order to make up time which she 

missed because of absences due to her disability. 

Contrary to Buhr' s assertions, the WLAD does not guarantee a 

disabled worker a full time work week. As the Court of Appeals aptly 

noted, Buhr cited "no authority for the proposition that an employer's duty 

to accommodate an employee's disability includes figuring out a way that 

an employee who needs to miss work days can make the same earnings as 

an employee who does not."10 (Decision, p. 12.) 

10 Assuming, arguendo, that Stewart Title of Spokane was required to permit Buhr to 
work outside normal business hours because of her disability, Buhr's flex-time actually 
did remain constant throughout her employment. (CP 1872, 1888-1889.) Stewart Title 
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The duty to reasonably accommodate a disability extends only to 

measures which will help an employee perform her job, avoid termination 

or avoid aggravating a disability. Jane Doe v. Boeing Co., 121 Wn.2d 8, 

14, 20, 846 P.2d 531 (1993); see, also, Sharpe v. Am. Tel. & Tel. Co., 66 

F.3d 1045, 1050 (9th Cir. 1995) (where the employer provides a 

reasonable accommodation, its legal obligation is satisfied and the 

"inquiry is over"). 

While Buhr was employed at Stewart Spokane, Buhr never 

actually requested to work outside of normal business hours as a disability 

accommodation. 11 (CP 351, 386-388, RP 1372-1375, 1557-1558.) 

Carollo and Montilla did not believe Buhr's work suffered from her 

absences. (CP 379, 385.) Carollo was not aware ofBuhr's beliefthat she 

needed to work outside of business hours to perform her job. (CP 351, 

386-388, RP 266.) Although Carollo was aware of Buhr's disability and 

attendant absences, he was not aware, and Buhr never informed him, that 

of Spokane records reflected that for the period of August 16, 2006 through September 
30, 2007, Buhr's work hours (per pay period) outside normal business hours-8:00a.m. 
to 5:00 p.m. - remained relatively consistent throughout her employment, with Buhr 
working between 0 to 11 hours per pay period outside those normal business hours all the 
way up to her termination on October 1, 2007, when she admittedly submitted an 
intentionally false timecard. (CP 1872, 1888-1889.) Buhr's implication that her pay was 
reduced failed on this basis. 
11 Buhr's only specific request to work outside regular hours came in September 2007 
when Buhr claimed that she, Hurd, and Dove needed to work more because of new 
regulatory requirements- not because of her disability. 
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she believed she needed to work outside of normal business hours in order 

to perform her job. (CP 379, 385.) 

Even if Buhr had requested to work outside of normal business 

hours because of her disability (which she did not), Washington law does 

not require an employer to offer a disabled employee the precise 

accommodation the employee requests. Wilson v. Wenatchee Sch. Dist., 

110 Wn. App. 265, 270, 40 P .3d 686 (2002). Stewart Spokane was under 

no obligation to allow Buhr to work outside normal business hours, where 

such accommodation was not requested and was not necessary to enable 

Buhr to perform the essential functions of her job. Stewart Spokane was 

required under its accommodation obligation to do that which would allow 

Buhr to remain employed, and this was accomplished by the liberal 

granting of leave. Petitioner has therefore failed to establish that the Court 

of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's decision. 

B. The Court of Appeals Properly Affirmed the Trial Court's 
Limitations on Accommodation at Trial and Exclusion of 
Accommodation from the Jury Instruction. 

Buhr also claims that Division III erred by holding that 

"accommodation plays no role in the assessment of disparate treatment." 

(Petition, p. 14.) In fact, Division III did not make such a broad holding. 

Before the Court of Appeals, Buhr argued that she was entitled to 

introduce evidence on accommodation at trial and receive a jury 

16 



instruction on accommodation because one of the elements of a disparate 

treatment claim is that plaintiff was able to perform her job with or 

without accommodation. Division III recognized that in some cases-

where both reasonable accommodation and disparate treatment claims 

were still in the case at the time of trial-accommodation may be 

considered as part of a disparate treatment case. (Decision, p. 17.) 

In Buhr's case, however, Buhr's reasonable accommodation claim 

had been dismissed at summary judgment after it was established that 

Buhr was able to perform all essential functions of her job with the 

allowances for absences given. Since the issue was no longer in dispute, 

the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's limitations on 

accommodation evidence at trial and exclusion of an accommodation 

reference in the jury instruction. 12 (/d. at 17-19.) 

12 Because the parties agreed that Buhr was able to perform her job, the inclusion of the 
second element from Pattern Jury Instruction 330.32, particularly the bracketed words 
"with reasonable accommodation," and the definition of reasonable accommodation Buhr 
sought did not apply to Buhr's case. (Id. at 17-18.) Instructions on reasonable 
accommodation were unnecessary, inappropriate and would have confused the jury. (See 
!d. at 19.) The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court's exclusion of these 
instructions. 

Likewise, to the extent the Court restricted any evidence on accommodation, it 
properly did so in order avoid confusing the jury. Buhr's accommodation claim had been 
dismissed. Allowing extensive questioning and testimony regarding accommodation in 
the legal sense would have confused and misled the jury. Any refusal by the trial court of 
evidence relating to reasonable accommodation was well within its discretion and was 
properly affirmed. (!d. at 20-21.) 
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Recognizing the flaws in arguments she made to the Court of 

Appeals-Buhr attempts to reframe her argument in her Petition. She no 

longer argues that she should have been permitted to prove she needed 

accommodation to do her job. Instead, for the first time, Buhr argues that 

accommodation is a precursor necessary to create similarly situated 

employees for a disparate treatment comparison. (Petition, p. 15.) Buhr 

claims that "[a ]bsent the affirmative step of accommodation, a disabled 

employee is not similarly situated to a non-disabled employee, and cannot 

besimilarlyjudged." (/d. at 15.) 

In support of her argument, Buhr sets forth an example in which an 

employee is disciplined for being late to work although the employee 

cannot physically get through the door. (!d. at 16.) Buhr asserts that she 

"was the employee who could not get in the door, but was disciplined for 

being late." (!d. at 17.) This example is completely off the mark. 

First, as the Court of Appeals properly held, Buhr was 

accommodated, and as a result she was able to perform the essential 

functions of her position. In terms consistent with Buhr's analogy, 

Stewart Spokane installed a ramp and an electric door opener so that Buhr 

was able to get in the door. 

Buhr was not disciplined for being "late." Buhr was terminated for 

submitting an intentionally false timecard; i.e., recording hours she knew 
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she did not work, which amounted to stealing from the company, and for 

not getting prior permission before working extra time on that Saturday, as 

required. (CP 390-391, 417-419.) 

Buhr complains that she was not allowed to discuss or argue that 

she should have been accommodated by allowing her to go into work after 

hours (even though she never requested that as an accommodation during 

her employment), but the Court of Appeals determined, as a matter oflaw, 

that Stewart's allowances for Buhr's extraordinary absences constituted 

reasonable accommodation. As such, Buhr was not entitled to discuss or 

argue the accommodation she desired in hindsight. Buhr was similarly 

situated to other non-disabled employees insofar as her accommodations 

allowed her to do her job. 

Buhr suggests that the jury instructions given could have allowed 

the jury to conclude that if Buhr was treated the same as everyone else, no 

discrimination existed, and that this is error. Even if this were somehow 

true, it is not error in this case. Where a disabled person has been 

adequately accommodated, otherwise treating that person the same as 

everyone else is not discrimination. Doe, 121 Wn.2d at 20 ("identical 

treatment may be a source of discrimination only when the work 

environment fails to take into account the unique characteristics of the 
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handicapped person"). Thus, in Buhr's case, otherwise identical treatment 

could not be a source of discrimination, as Buhr claims. 

At trial, Buhr's claim for failure to accommodate had already been 

dismissed; the Court did not err by preventing Buhr from improperly 

injecting that theory back into the case. The Petition of Review makes no 

attempt to refute the appellate court's reasoning. Petitioner has failed to 

demonstrate any error warranting this Court's review. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, Stewart Title of Spokane, LLC